
1 
 

PENSIONS, BENEFITS AND SOCIAL SECURITY SECTION (PBSS) 
 

Minutes of the 30th Board Meeting of the PBSS Section  
held on Monday 01, April 2019 from 15:00 to 18:00 hrs  

at the Cape Town International Convention Centre, Cape Town 
 

Contents 
1. Welcome and Apologies .................................................................................................................... 2 

2. Adoption of Agenda ........................................................................................................................... 2 

3. Approval of the minutes of the last meeting held in Mexico City ..................................................... 2 

4. IAA restructuring and approach with Health Section, PEBC & SSC ................................................ 2 

5. Section Task Force and Joint Communication Committee ................................................................ 6 

6. Work Plan 2019 and after .................................................................................................................. 6 
6.1 2019 Section Colloquium – Cape Town, South Africa, 01–04 April 2019 ......................... 6 
6.2 2020 Colloquium – Paris, France, 10 – 14 May 2020 ......................................................... 7 
6.3 2021 Colloquium – some collaboration with ISSA ............................................................. 7 
6.4 32nd ICA – Sydney, Australia 2022 .................................................................................... 7 
6.5 2023 Colloquium – ............................................................................................................... 8 
6.6 Webinars .............................................................................................................................. 8 
6.7 Reference List ...................................................................................................................... 8 
6.8 Virtual Library ..................................................................................................................... 8 
6.9 Bursaries ............................................................................................................................... 8 
6.10 Prizes .................................................................................................................................... 9 
6.11 World Pensions Summit ....................................................................................................... 9 
6.12 Communication and Extending Membership ...................................................................... 9 

7. Report on discussion on changes to Protocol/contract on housing a section colloquium .................. 9 

8. Finance Report ................................................................................................................................. 10 
8.1 Financial statements of 2018. ............................................................................................. 10 

9. Membership and constitution ........................................................................................................... 10 
9.1 Board membership election at the AGM to be held during the 2019 IAA Section 

Colloquium. ........................................................................................................................ 10 
9.2 Proposed changes or clarification of the Rules of the PBSS Section ................................ 10 

10. Section’s succession mechanism discussion .................................................................................... 10 

11. Support of the IAA Secretariat to the Sections ................................................................................ 10 

12. Feedback from PEBC and SSC ........................................................................................................ 10 

13. Any other Business .......................................................................................................................... 10 

14. Next meeting .................................................................................................................................... 10 

15. Close ................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Attendance Register ............................................................................................................................... 11 
 

 



2 
 

1. Welcome and Apologies 
The Chair (Abraham Hernández Pacheco) welcomed everybody to the meeting. Eleven PBSS Committee 
members attended the meeting (including participation on the phone, see the table on page 11). No 
apologies were received. Abe reported that he invited Ms. Fernanda Salas Avendaño, who has been helping 
the Chair with many items. Ms. Carol Ann Banks, a staff member of the IAA Secretariat, also attended the 
meeting. Mr. Juan Laverde, a staff member of the IAA Secretariat, also attended the meeting on the phone. 

2. Adoption of Agenda 
Abe briefly discussed the agenda of the Board meeting. Mr. Brnic Van Wyk said that he would make a couple 
of comments about the 2022 ICA to be held in Sydney. Abe said that it would be included in the agenda 
item 6: “Work Plan 2019 and after.” Mr. Kenneth Buffin raised a question about the support that the 
sections were receiving from the IAA Secretariat and the fees that the Sections are paying in exchange of 
that. Abe said that the issue would be added to the agenda.  

3. Approval of the minutes of the last meeting held in Mexico City 
The draft minutes of the 29th PBSS Board Meeting held in Mexico City was approved without change.  

4. IAA restructuring and approach with Health Section, PEBC & SSC 
Before starting the agenda, Abe remarked the new website of the IAA and recommended the board 
members to take a look at our part of the website because we had to request for modification if any. Then, 
Abe asked Mr. Charles Cowling to report and explain the issue of IAA restructuring.  Charles reported and 
explained as follows: 

On IAA restructuring we are addressing the issues of governance of the IAA, committee structures, council 
efficiency and operational efficiency. We are focusing on three key strategic objectives, namely ‘influence,’ 
‘advance’ and ‘show,’ where ‘influence’ being working with supranational organisations, ‘show’ being 
about our future profession, educational standards and so on, and, ‘advance’ being areas we are looking 
to promote future growth of actuarial expertise, both in existing areas and new areas like health, banking, 
investment and so on.  

One of the challenges we got is how we structure ourselves, namely making the work of the sections, and 
the works of the IAA committees to become more right and more aligned, recognising from where we 
come. From the perspective of the sections, this is about encouraging innovation, bubbling up activities 
from individuals around the world. But from the perspective of the IAA committees, we are looking about 
what are the key strategic issues that we are keen to promote in the moment, namely how to generate 
the IAA positions on the topics such as international accounting standards in relevant supranational 
organisations. 

The focus of the new task force in the moment is largely on the top-down structure, namely, how to make 
the council more effective. But simultaneously we are looking at the bottom-up structure or the advance 
area, where the sections and the committees could work more closely. That might mean that we might 
arrange future colloquia and future IAA meetings to take place in the same city, so that we can encourage 
the members of the committees to become more closely involved in the colloquia. In the moment, no 
member of the PEBC is in Cape Town and I think it is a great shame.  

There are some practical issues on how we encourage cross working. There are also some operational 
issues about how we might work more closely together. For instance, when the committees have to do 
something, it would be better to share that with the sections. The renewal task force is looking at creating 
some community whereby we would put the committees and the sections together. We at the moment 
have no desire to merge the entities but desire to merge the activities. Sharing ideas with the sections 
means that something could be done together with the sections. We can both benefit from that. This 
raises a heated challenge of how we physically meet together. 



3 
 

Other governance issue is how we simultaneously serve each other’s audiences. The committees report 
to the Executive Committee of the IAA. And the EC has some directions to the committees and the 
activities of the committees aim at furthering the strategic objectives of the IAA. I think there would also 
be some merit for the sections being part of that. It is not discouraging the sections from encouraging all 
the innovations or bubbling up the ideas, but the EC is saying that the key strategic priority of this initiative 
is that actually the sections should participate in helping of solving particular problems.  

So, I think there is great win-win relationship. The sections would have a lot of gains if we can get more 
IAA involvements in the sections. If there are more IAA committee members getting involved in relevant 
sections, then it would support the sections financially and physically. Similarly, I think that great value 
will be added in the work of the committees, if we can get extra support of the expertise of the sections.  

Then the challenge is making them all work. How we should work more closely together. I am interested 
in your ideas on the good things that might be achieved and also any reservations you have got on what 
we should not do.  

Abe said that he would like to hear any ideas, concerns or anything from the board members regarding 
working more closely.  

Ken raised two concerns, namely the roles of the EC and the roles of the IAA as an association of member 
associations. He pointed out that some FMAs have large voting right and tend to dominate the thinking and 
the input and they feed down into the IAA committees.  

Ken said that the IAA committees are following the top-down directions, whereas in the sections we have 
much more freedom as individuals. Ken continued that originally the IAA or the previous IAA had been the 
association of individual members, and we, individual members of the IAA, had enjoyed much more freedom 
to input the ideas. Ken said that was the reverse process compared to the present. Ken recalled that it had 
worked fairly well over the years.  

Ken pointed out that there were two streams of directions, one of which was directions from the member 
associations and individual sections were essentially a gathering of intellectual input from individual 
members. Ken commented that it would be a great challenge to blend the two together.  

Ken continued that if we look at the first objective of ‘influence,’ and if we attempt to influence the 
supranational organisations, it would be the most effective way to achieve the objective of ‘influence’. He 
questioned whether it is through the work of the committees or through the work of the specially appointed 
individual representatives. Ken pointed out that the required skill set would be quite different because the 
skill set existing in the committees are mainly technical. Ken questioned how we achieve effectively the 
objective of ‘influence’ with combining the sections and the committees, in other words, how we identify 
the means to build the bridge to the external supranational organisations. 

Charles commented that it was a very important question. Charles continued that what they had been trying 
to achieve was a system of a key relationship manager for each organisation. Charles explained that there 
had perhaps been a list of ten supranational organisations which were key to the strategic objectives of the 
IAA. Charles continued that they had got individuals assigned to them, and they are the relationship 
managers. Charles said that they were not technical experts, but their job was to understand what the 
supranational organisation was interested in and who in the IAA could supply the answers that the 
supranational organisation were interested in.  

Charles continued that what they wanted to take to the next level was that those relationship managers 
were not just looking at the committees but also looking at the sections. Charles raised Ms. Christelle 
Dieudonné as the most obvious example, who looked after the IAA relationship with the OECD. Charles 
explained that she had two key challenges, one was having a central database on the key initiatives that 
people are working on within the IAA, and the other was knowing the key individuals who were able to 
represent the IAA at the meeting with the supranational organisations.  

Charles pointed out that we could get ourselves better by putting the challenge together. Charles said that 
the sections could help significantly with that, because a whole of the expertise existed in the sections.  



4 
 

Ken agreed and said that the issue would be monitoring the progress, setting the objectives and getting the 
individuals appointed as representing the IAA to each of the supranational organisations. Ken said that 
Christel was located in Paris and could talk with the OECD, but in Washington DC., who were talking with 
the World Bank and the IMF. Abe said he did not know who had organised the gathering with the World 
Bank, recalling that it had been a very good meeting. Charles said that Ms. Barbara D’Ambrogi-Ola was the 
relationship manager to the IMF but there had been no relationship manager to the World Bank yet.  

Mr. Nobuhiro Shimizu said that in the Health Section there had been a disagreement about how the health 
insurance should be organised, namely, publicly organised or privately organised. Nobu continued that 
similar disagreement might be surfaced when we have two different entities, one was top-down and the 
chair was appointed by the EC and the other is bottom-up and the chair was selected within the entity by 
voting. 

Brnic said that as a general observation, if we were going to attempt to agree on how to take us forward on 
what the ambition was, then we could never agree. Brnic continued that when we tried to come up with 
the solution, we should agree on small steps like sharing the minutes. Brnic explained that it would be 
interesting for us the sections just to be aware of what the committee had been discussing and vice versa. 
Brnic continued that the small first step would be agreeing on any kind of working arrangement. Brnic added 
that when it were a small step and we were uncomfortable with it, then we could step back. 

Abe said that it would be a good moment to touch basis with you and gave his view on the issue as follows:  
I only have a partial view but there is a budget problem at the IAA. The IAA is doing a lot of things and the 
budget put some constraints on its activities. And the FMAs send their delegates to the IAA meetings. One 
thing missing in the consideration in the EC was that the idea of forming a new entity will cost them more 
dollars per capita.  
Somebody might have said, “wait a minute.” But what happened is a lot of subcommittees, working groups, 
task forces, etc., and the IAA has become very complex organisation. People participating in the 
committees do not necessarily know the whole structure of the IAA and some do not know the sections 
at all. People involved in the sections are not very well aware of the committees. It has created a lot of 
inefficient work. Some work was done at the committees, but the pay was very low. The FMAs also think 
that the IAA is doing something that is got out of what the IAA should do. Then this task force was formed 
to make things simpler. The idea was even to eliminate some committees or merging the sections or 
merging the sections and the committees. It started like that.  
In the meantime, we also need to talk about the governance. The discussion has become more about 
governance than the complexity of the IAA. The governance of the sections is very different from that of 
the committees. So merging the sections will not going to happen. Today it is very clear that we might 
merge activities but we will not merge.  
In the middle of this reorganisation, there have been something that we the sections have not been 
expected. To put it mildly, some FMAs are friendlier than others towards the sections. Some FMAs really 
support what the sections are doing and participate with membership and participate in the colloquia and 
the congress of actuaries, etc. They know that the sections are a tool for them and ask the sections to 
organise seminars. On the other hand, some other FMAs even question why the sections exist in the IAA 
and say that they do not like very much things bottomed up and suddenly found out that something 
related to the IAA is not in the interest of their FMAs.    
On the same path, the sections have been trying to achieve certain things, such as why we do not have 
more voting rights. The membership of some sections is larger than those of the FMAs and they question 
whether they are receiving a good value for what they are paying for. The impression of the sections’ 
leadership is that we have not being well served and we have a thought that we have contributed to the 
IAA budget, apart from what we have received from the IAA Secretariat. However the IAA Secretariat do 
not think that is the case. They think that the sections do not contribute to the IAA general budget. That 
was a surprise for me. And sometimes it was not transparent.  
I have asked formally and informally at the council that sections should have representatives in the 
relevant committees, which will then allow sharing the minutes, etc. Informally I have been a permanent 
observer in the PEBC but that should be formalised. The other thing is to formally participate in the 



5 
 

nomination process of the IAA leadership. Informally some sections even do that but on the IAA rules that 
is not the case. The nominations are asked from the FMAs and not from the sections.  
Again, I raised this issue because I believe that the sections can provide good leaders for the IAA. Those 
who are part of the sections have international views and passion about collaborating on the issues. Some 
might have the right skills for dealing with the World Bank, the ISSA or other supranational organisations. 
In any way the sections are not a legal entity but an internal body of the IAA. We are happy to provide 
materials and ideas about influencing.   
The other thing we have talked about is becoming a legal entity and be a formal member of the IAA, with 
having our own staffs to help us. However, my thinking is no need for the sections to become a FMA, but 
we need to be clear and transparent about how we are contributing to the IAA. It is a good idea for us to 
have representatives to certain committees and take part in the nomination process of the IAA leadership. 
That is my personal point of view and I would like to listen to your views. 

Charles said that the sections have been doing great work to encourage individual actuaries to share things 
around the world. Charles continued that he was not sure that the sections would gain anything from trying 
to get involved in running the IAA. Mr. Krzysztof Ostaszewski said it was much more efficient to cope with 
his own thing and present ideas through the sections, and not trying to get approval of the FMA he belongs 
to. He said he was very much in favour of the freedom of individual actuaries to act and present ideas and 
not to be constrained by the restriction base of the FMA. Charles agreed and said that in term of governance 
he could not understand why the sections want to have a seat at the council, which is a place for the FMAs 
to fight about standards and education syllabuses, etc.  

Mr. Allan Paldanius said on the phone that he did not understand why we should be involved in the 
governance or the politics of the IAA.  

Brnic said that in summary we were happy to share expertise with the IAA but not happy to share the 
finances. He continued that however he was against turning the back on the IAA because the PBSS is a group 
of individual actuaries and we might seek influence through the IAA on the matters. He added that, putting 
it in other words, we could use the IAA if we wanted to. He said that although he had no objection to what 
had been said until the moment, the PBSS should be comfortable to share its expertise with the IAA if there 
were some common objectives or strategies. He added that to be tied up to the governance of the IAA might 
probably not always coincide with the interests of individual PBSS members. 

Nobu remarked the fact that some FMAs are dominated by actuaries in the field of life and casual insurance 
industries. Nobu said that actuarial activities in the field of social security might not be well understood in 
such FMAs and therefore it would be relatively difficult to obtain sufficient financial support to participating 
in the activities of the sections in comparison to participating in the activities of the committees, to which 
as a due course the FMAs thought they had to send their representatives.  

Abe raised three examples of collaboration. First example is the presentation of the PBSS on the global 
pension crisis and the ideas to mitigate it. He said that we had received very good feedbacks from the PEBC. 
He appreciated the collaboration and said he had been invited by the consulting actuaries’ association in 
the UK to present it.  Abe added that he had also been invited by the Conference of Consulting Actuaries in 
the United States. He said the document would be presented in the Cape Town Colloquium and encouraged 
everybody to use the document because it was prepared by the PBSS. He added that the document should 
be updated at least once a year.  

Abe raised two problems about collaborating with the OECD. First was that the very recent OECD meeting 
had been held in Myanmar, far away from everywhere. The other problem that Abe raised was that if Abe 
asked somebody to make presentation, then his/her travel cost should be covered but we have not 
budgeted the cost. Abe continued that if the PEBC or OECD subcommittee has budget for that then we can 
ask someone to go, because his/her travel cost would be covered in due course. Abe remarked that then 
he/she was not representing the PBSS nor the PEBC, but he/she was representing the IAA.  

Second example of collaboration that Abe raised was the de-risking project at the PEBC. Abe said that in the 
second example we PBSS could help the PEBC. Abe added that he would make presentation on the first draft 
of the issue the next day. 



6 
 

Third example of collaboration that Abe raised was that the mortality working group and the population 
issues working group had asked the PBSS to sponsor a seminar in Washington D.C. Abe said that we had 
collaborated with 500 dollars for the seminar. However, Abe expressed his regrets because he had wanted 
to join the program, but it was impossible. Abe also wanted some discount for the PBSS members, but only 
got three free entrance. Abe explained that that had not been the idea because we had wanted to get 
involved in the seminar. 

Then Abe raised another issue relating to the IAA restructuring. That was that the IAA delegates should be 
a voting member of the section board and Abe explained that the proposal had been put forward by the 
task force. Krzysztof said that he has no objection to the proposal. Abe said that we had been in great 
collaboration with the IAA delegates and added that it would not happen immediately.  

On the approach with the Health Section, Abe proposed to start with some small steps, such as having a 
joint webinar whose subjects we had been trying to find.   

5. Section Task Force and Joint Communication Committee 
Abe reported that the section chairs were now proposing to have a permanent mechanism to deal with 
those efforts the sections had agreed to put together, such as marketing the sections like presentation about 
the sections, having a sections’ booth at the colloquia and sections ambassadors to the FMAs, namely having 
somebody to talk to the FMA on behalf of all the sections. Abe continued that the permanent mechanism 
was the function the section chairs had pre-agreed to put together, including the Joint Communication 
Committee.  

Nobu noted that if we had had a section ambassador in the case of the Berlin ICA, then we would have been 
able to level up the collaboration with the organiser of the Berlin ICA. Abe said in the case of the Sydney ICA 
we did have Brnic and continued that currently Brnic was a PBSS ambassador, but he would eventually be a 
sections ambassador.  

Then Abe reported about the Virtual ICA as follows: 
Now we are the only section that does not participate in the VICA, and there are some regrets expressed 
by a few members. We might try to consider something, but the price is too much expensive, although 
the VICA organiser says that they will not make any profit from the VICA.  

Krzysztof commented that it would be very hard to believe what the VICA organiser was saying because the 
record accomplished at the Hong Kong Mini-Congress had been much less expensive. Charles agreed. Abe 
remarked that the VICA was again something that the sections needed to come together. Abe added that 
each section could take its own decision but before taking decision all the sections ought to talk together.   

6. Work Plan 2019 and after 
6.1 2019 Section Colloquium – Cape Town, South Africa, 01–04 April 2019  

Abe said the organiser of the Cape Town Colloquium had sent us an E-mail saying that they had expected 
more participants from abroad. Abe reported that more than 600 people would attend the Colloquium and 
about 150 coming from abroad. Abe explained that although the number might be disappointing for the 
organiser, he did not think so if considering the distance and the efforts to come to Cape Town.  

Ken pointed out that one of the difficulties from the US perspective was the timing. Ken continued that the 
annual meeting for US enrolled actuaries would be held in the next week in Washington D.C., thus no 
enrolled actuaries would come to Cape Town. Ken added that they would also have an IAA meeting in 
Washington D.C. just a few weeks from the moment and the US employers would put priority on sending 
their enrolled actuaries to Washington D.C.  

Abe said that low US participation was not only the characteristic of the actuarial profession but of all the 
professions, because the US was so large that they would not need to go outside of the US. Abe added that 
actuaries of a small country like Norway would need to look abroad. Then Abe pointed out that we would 
need to keep in mind that we were competing against all those things and we need to make better marketing 



7 
 

efforts for the colloquia. Abe remarked that for the ICA there had usually been a very good efforts and a 
good commitment of money to market the event.  

6.2 2020 Colloquium – Paris, France, 10 – 14 May 2020  
Abe continued that the Paris Colloquium in 2020 would be a great opportunity because colloquia held in 
Europe tend to attract more people than anywhere else and it would be a good excuse for anybody to visit 
Paris. Abe said we should consider how to use the event to attract more members to the PBSS and he had 
already let the organiser know the names of Rodrigo and Krzysztof as the persons representing the PBSS.  

Krzysztof asked the timeline for the initial call for papers, but it has not made open. Abe said that he would 
ask Mr. Thomas Béhar to send us update of the Paris Colloquium. Krzysztof also asked about the role of Mr. 
Douglas Carey. Doug answered on the phone that he was representing the IACA. Abe reconfirmed that 
Rodrigo and Krzysztof were formally representing the PBSS. Krzysztof agreed and expressed his appreciation. 

Then Abe introduced what Mr. Marius du Toit had said, namely, to be clear who is our intended audience, 
and which is the aim and goal of the colloquia. Abe questioned whether we really needed a showman who 
might make the colloquium more attractive and whether we should go more scientific or more practical. No 
view was shown from the board members about the issue. Doug commented that Paris was a fantastic 
location and would be much more attractive to North American actuaries. 

Charles said that he would like to hold a PEBC meeting in Paris instead of in Brussels. Charles continued that 
in that way the committees would start to get closer to the sections and he had to find some way to 
construct the timetable to work. Abe said that he would invite PEBC members as an observer to the PBSS 
board meeting and vice versa. Abe continued that being there, not just reading the minutes, would be the 
better way to know each other. Everybody agreed.  

6.3 2021 Colloquium – some collaboration with ISSA  
Abe reported that he had not got any comments from Mr Marcelo Abi-Ramia Caetano, new Secretary 
General of the ISSA as to the issue. Abe added that Mr. Gábor Hanák and Barbara had met recently but they 
had not addressed the issue. Abe continued that he had told Gábor that Abe would write a note and send it 
to Gábor and Barbara. Abe said that with the note they would remind the Secretary General that the PBSS 
had been planning for a long time to make a joint meeting again and still been hoping to happen. Abe said 
that at the moment they were considering Italy and that would make the collaboration easy than Kuwait.  

Abe added that Mr. Jean Claud Ménard had just left the post of Chief Actuary of the CPP and Ms. Assia Billig 
had taken over the relationship with the ISSA. Abe said that we had supported the event of the mortality 
working group and Assia would work for the PBSS. Ken commented that we could ask Jean Claud to make a 
special appeal. Abe answered affirmatively and said that he had already been asking Jean Claud for the 
support.   

6.4 32nd ICA – Sydney, Australia 2022 
Brnic reported as follows:  

The Institute of Actuaries of Australia really appreciates that individual actuaries are sitting on the sections. 
I have met Ms. Nicolette Rubinsztein, the current President of the Institute, and Ms. Elayne Grace, the 
CEO. There is an organising committee of the Sydney ICA, but it has not organised anything yet.  

I have some correspondents with Ms. Lesley Traverso, who is in charge of marketing the ICA 2022. I gave 
her some of my feedbacks obtained from the colloquia that I have attended in the past. She is very keen 
to learn from other people. She is asking again a feedback of experiences from this colloquium. The 
feedback I gave her was that she has to sell the Sydney ICA as a kind of holiday, because Sydney is very far 
from anywhere else or everybody and has different time zone, which is different from Cape Town. So, it 
will take a lot of planning for people to go to Sydney. Thus, you cannot sell the Sydney ICA as a scientific 
or consulting evet but as a kind of holiday.  

And linked to that, I contrasted to her the difference I experienced in Mexico and in Berlin. In Mexico, 
students wearing orange caps and shirts answered any silly questions from the participants. It was quite 
helpful. At the dinner, they also livened up the event. Whereas in Berlin, the event was very well organised, 
but I felt that something was missing. That was a sort of feedback I gave to her.  



8 
 

Ken commented that traditionally the colloquia had had strong social programs, and previously we had 
celebrated the Melbourne Day and there were lots of activities outside the formal program. Brnic said that 
he could not get involved in the organising committee due to his workload but would be very happy to be a 
liaison and get in touch with Mr. David Knox, chair of the scientific committee, and assist with assessment 
of abstracts and papers, etc.  

Abe recalled his experience in Berlin regarding selection of papers, namely the scientific committee had 
rejected any involvement of the PBSS. Brnic said that current president of the Australian Institute would be 
involved in organising the ICA 2022 although nobody knew the president in that year. Brnic reiterated that 
there was no specific activity at that stage, but we need to avoid surprise.  

Ken said that Australia is an outreach to Asia and looks to Japan, Hong Kong and Republic of China and 
questioned to Brnic how strong the communication link through Asia is. Brnic answered that relatively large 
proportion of Australian Institute lived out of Australia, and at the moment a member of the Council 
stationed in Hong Kong and added that there was a very clear initiative for the Australian Institute to be 
active outside Australia, specifically in Asia. Brnic continued that increasingly large number of actuaries 
registered in Australia were working in India, Singapore, Hong Kong, etc.  

6.5 2023 Colloquium –   
This agenda item was skipped. 

6.6 Webinars 
Abe recalled that our aim was holding six webinars per calendar year and said that the idea was looking for 
speakers. Abe continued that we were looking for speakers among the presentations in the Berlin ICA, the 
Cape Town Colloquium, etc. Then Abe asked again the board members for a help, saying that its not a lot of 
work because Ms. Alejandra Salas would help a lot with that effort, would talk with possible speakers and 
talk with the Secretariat to set up the webinar, send announcements, etc. Abe explained what he was usually 
doing and added that he would really appreciate if some of the board members could take over that work.  

Krzysztof expressed his willingness to do the work. Abe appreciated and proposed Krzysztof to have a 
meeting with Alejandra during the Colloquium. Krzysztof said that he would get support from the Secretariat. 
Abe said that Juan and Carl had been working on marketing and business plan.  

Abe said that we had to work a lot on the webinars because we had not succeeded yet in getting sufficient 
attendance to the webinars. Abe added that the Health Section was very good at organising the webinars. 
Juan agreed and explained the work to be done by the Secretariat. Abe said that we should send invitation 
to the members of the PEBC committee. 

6.7 Reference List  
Abe said that Alejandra was doing a great job with the Reference List and Krzysztof was taking care of her 
job. Then Abe asked the board members for any comments, suggestions, ideas about the Reference List. 
There was no major comment expressed. Then Abe said that Alejandra had been compiling the Reference 
List, helping us to organise the webinars, and getting involved in marketing the sections and reported that 
he had offered her to come to the Cape Town Colloquium but she had wanted to pass that time, so he had 
offered her to go to the next colloquium. Abe proposed to budget a bit more than CAD 2,000 for the next 
year to cover most of her expenses. Everybody agreed and the proposal was approved.  

6.8 Virtual Library  
Abe said that the Virtual Library is part of the joint work of the sections through the so-called permanent 
mechanism. Then, there were some exchanges of comments. No conclusion was reached. 

6.9 Bursaries  
Abe reported that we had had seven requests for bursaries that year. He said it was the largest number and 
it was a success. Abe continued that we had given four partial bursaries. Then there were exchanges of 
opinions about the bursary policy. Fernanda said that the Health Section had a very good bursary policy. 
Abe promised to send it to the board members before the next board meeting.  



9 
 

Charles questioned whether the registration fee is the real cost. Abe answered that in the case of the Cape 
Town Colloquium we had just asked the colloquium organiser to waive the fee of the chair of the section, 
but it would be possible to ask to waive the fee of the bursary recipients. Abe said it would be on the agenda 
of the section chairs’ meeting at some time. Abe added that he preferred to ask to waive the fee for the 
bursary recipients than ask to share the profit of the colloquium.  

6.10 Prizes  
Abe reported that we had done nothing about selecting the best papers of the Cape Town Colloquium. Abe 
said that it would not be possible to announce the best paper prizes during the colloquium. Abe apologised 
and said that it was his fault.  

Abe said that year we have three papers published on the ASTIN Bulletin whose authors are members of 
the PBSS. Abe said that we had to select one best paper. Abe added that he had asked Mr. Christian Levac 
to announce the prize and the winner on an issue of the ASTIN Bulletin.  

As for the ASTIN Management Board, Abe reported that he had asked Krzysztof to take the place but the 
Board did absolutely nothing, namely the board had not met ever and had nothing to do. Abe continued 
that on the rule the Board appoints the editor but actually the previous editor selects his/her successor 
when he/she leaves, and the Board just says OK.  

6.11 World Pensions Summit  
Abe said that we wanted to request the organising committee of the Paris Colloquium for one free admission 
for the WPS in exchange for WPS’s promoting our events. Abe explained that the WPS meeting was less 
technical but inclusive of all the pension industry, such as asset management, economics, politics, etc. Brnic 
said it was much more expensive. Doug said on the phone that if we have a speaking slot then we could 
promote the PBSS at the event of the WPS. Brnic recalled that when he had made a presentation three years 
ago, the WPS had waived his registration fee. Brnic added that the WPS was keen to ensure divergence of 
the speakers of an event.  

6.12 Communication and Extending Membership  
Carl reported that there were several ideas on gaining the membership of the sections. Carl said that one of 
which that IAA was investigating at the IAA Secretariat was retaining members. Carl explained that currently 
the sections lost some members each year because we did not remind the members to renew the 
membership.  

Carl added that the IAA Secretariat wanted to have a separate budget for the sections to pay some of the 
promotion activities, like having a booth at the colloquia. Abe said that it would be good for all the sections 
to get together and produce a common marketing plan and put our money together on the budget. Doug 
remarked that the current membership of the PBSS is 518. Nobu commented that on the new website we 
could not get the number of the section membership because the application had been deleted. Carol 
pointed out that there might be some duplication.  

Abe said at the AGM to be held on Wednesday we would need to show the official number. Abe added that 
that year was the first year we had lost significant members. Doug agreed and said some of them might be 
due to some FMAs’ late payment of membership dues. Doug added that the great concern would be that 
we had budgeted for 2019 with anticipating the membership increase and the difference would be CAD 
5,000. Abe pointed out that not only the PBSS had experienced decrease of the membership but other 
sections had also lost proportionally even more members, so it would be a collective concern to be 
addressed.  

7. Report on discussion on changes to Protocol/contract on housing a section colloquium 
This agenda item was skipped.  



10 
 

8. Finance Report 
8.1 Financial statements of 2018. 

This agenda item was skipped. 

9.  Membership and constitution 
9.1 Board membership election at the AGM to be held during the 2019 IAA Section Colloquium. 

This agenda item was skipped. 

9.2 Proposed changes or clarification of the Rules of the PBSS Section 
Abe said that there would be some clarifications on the Rules and he was working on that. Abe added that 
he would send the proposed changes to the board members to discuss at the next board meeting. 

10.  Section’s succession mechanism discussion 
Abe said that he had gathered what other sections were doing about the succession mechanism, but nobody 
had been clear on the issue. Abe said that there were no written rules, although some sections had certain 
policies about the succession mechanism. Abe raised such examples that vice chair becomes chair 
automatically and chair stays on the position only for two years. Abe added that we were the only section 
that chair stays more than two years.  
Abe continued that the chairs recognised that there should be some written succession mechanism, but we 
needed not to agree with all other sections about it. Abe said he would make a summary of the informal 
policies and send it to the board members to have a discussion to try to reach policies of ourselves.  

11.  Support of the IAA Secretariat to the Sections 
This agenda item was added at the beginning of the board meeting (see agenda item 2 on page 2). Abe said 
that it must be improved, it must be clarified and it must be transparent so that we only pay for the services 
we were actually receiving from the IAA Secretariat. Abe continued that for instance we had not paid for 
the IT System, but we had to discuss that because even the idea that the sections should have its own 
secretariat had been paid consideration to.  

12.  Feedback from PEBC and SSC 
This agenda item was skipped. 

13.  Any other Business 
None 

14.  Next meeting 
Carl asked the next board meeting and Abe answered probably the next board meeting would be in Tokyo.   

15.  Close 
There being no further business, the Chair closed the meeting, and thanked all for their attendance. 

Abraham Hernández Pacheco  
Chair, PBSS 
April 01, 2019 
  



11 
 

Attendance Register 
Meeting of the PBSS Section Committee 

Monday, 01 April 2019 
Cape Town, South Africa 

 
 

 Name Country Atten-
dance 

Date 
appointed 

Date re-
elected 

End of 
term 

Honorary 
Chair Christopher Daykin UK No 3/2014  – 

Chair Abraham Hernández 
Pacheco Mexico Yes 9/2011 6/2015 AGM in 

2019 

Deputy 
Chair Carl Hansen Guernsey Yes 3/2013 (AGM in 

2017) 
AGM in 

2021 

Secretary Nobuhiro Shimizu Japan Yes 9/2011 6/2015 AGM in 
2019 

Treasurer Douglas Carey USA On the 
phone 5/2012 6/2016 AGM in 

2020 

 Allan Paldanius Finland On the 
phone 6/2016  AGM in 

2020 

 Brnic Van Wyk Australia Yes 6/2018  AGM in 
2022 

 Florian Léger France No 9/2011 6/2015 AGM in 
2019 

 Ignacio del Barco Spain On the 
Phone 6/2016  AGM in 

2020 

 Kenneth George 
Buffin USA Yes 6/2018  

AGM in 
2022 

 Krzysztof 
Ostaszewski USA Yes 6/2016  AGM in 

2020 

 Paulo Josef Gouvêa 
da Gama Brazil No 6/2016  AGM in 

2020 

 Rodrigo Ibarra-
Jarrin Equador On the 

phone 6/2018  AGM in 
2022 

IAA 
delegate 

Barbara D'Ambrogi-
Ola Finland No - - - 

IAA 
delegate Chales Cowling United 

Kingdom Yes - - - 

 
 


	1. Welcome and Apologies
	2. Adoption of Agenda
	3. Approval of the minutes of the last meeting held in Mexico City
	4. IAA restructuring and approach with Health Section, PEBC & SSC
	5. Section Task Force and Joint Communication Committee
	6. Work Plan 2019 and after
	6.1 2019 Section Colloquium – Cape Town, South Africa, 01–04 April 2019
	6.2 2020 Colloquium – Paris, France, 10 – 14 May 2020
	6.3 2021 Colloquium – some collaboration with ISSA
	6.4 32nd ICA – Sydney, Australia 2022
	6.5 2023 Colloquium –
	6.6 Webinars
	6.7 Reference List
	6.8 Virtual Library
	6.9 Bursaries
	6.10 Prizes
	6.11 World Pensions Summit
	6.12 Communication and Extending Membership

	7. Report on discussion on changes to Protocol/contract on housing a section colloquium
	8. Finance Report
	8.1 Financial statements of 2018.

	9.  Membership and constitution
	9.1 Board membership election at the AGM to be held during the 2019 IAA Section Colloquium.
	9.2 Proposed changes or clarification of the Rules of the PBSS Section

	10.   Section’s succession mechanism discussion
	11.   Support of the IAA Secretariat to the Sections
	12.   Feedback from PEBC and SSC
	13.   Any other Business
	14.   Next meeting
	15.   Close
	Attendance Register

